


 

  
  

         
  

          

 

   
    

  
 

 
  

   

 
 

  

     
    

     

    
 

  
         

 

   
  

       
      

  

 

 
  

  
  

  
  

  

  

   
    

          
   

           

 

   
    

  
 

 
  

     
 

  
  

   

       
     

     

    
 

  
         

 

  
  

       
     

  

 

 
  

  
  

 
 

 

 

TRU-395975
Corrigan, Martina 

From: O'Brien, Aidan 
07 February 2016 21:22 

Personal Information redacted by USI

Sent: 
To: Corrigan, Martina; Glackin, Anthony; Haynes, Mark; ODonoghue, JohnP; Suresh, 

Ram; Young, Michael 
Subject: RE: Standard Operating Procedure for Fluid Management during Urology surgery 

Dear All, 

I suspect that any comments from me will be perceived to have been prejudicial. 
However, I honestly did approach using the much hailed Olympus with a view to giving it a fair wind. 
And was I bowled over? 
No! 
I resected two small prostates. 
I found it deficient in two respects: 

1. It is my understanding that there is no blended current on cutting with the result that haemostasis was 
inferior to monopolar during cutting 
You resect, it bleeds and you coagulate. 
This slowed the resection. 
It also had me wondering whether one would have increased fluid absorption as a consequence. 

2. The rate of irrigation was much slower than with the monopolar resectoscopic, with the result that there 
was an intermittent fog which I had to stop resecting to wait for it to clear. 

I was so glad that neither prostate was large, as I certainly would not have used the Bipolar. 

The Audit asks the question whether the trialist would be ‘happy’ to use it. 
My answer was a definite ‘No’. 
I will do if I have to. 
I just do hope that the Operating procedure will allow me to continue to use Monopolar, as it is very much superior, 

Aidan 

From: Corrigan, Martina 
Sent: 07 February 2016 17:55 
To: Glackin, Anthony; Haynes, Mark; O'Brien, Aidan; ODonoghue, JohnP; Suresh, Ram; Young, Michael 
Subject: FW: Standard Operating Procedure for Fluid Management during Urology surgery 

Any comments? 

Martina 

Martina Corrigan 
Head of ENT, Urology and Outpatients 
Southern Health and Social Care Trust 
Craigavon Area Hospital 

Telephone: 
Mobile: 
Email: 

Personal Information redacted by USI

Personal Information redacted by USI

Personal Information redacted by USI
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TRU-395978
Corrigan, Martina 

From: O'Brien, Aidan 
30 March 2016 16:17 

Personal Information redacted by USI

Sent: 
To: Young, Michael; Corrigan, Martina 
Cc: Glackin, Anthony; Suresh, Ram; Haynes, Mark; ODonoghue, JohnP 
Subject: Bipolar Resection 

Michael and Martina, 

I wish to take the opportunity to update you on my experience of trying bipolar resection systems. 
I have tried the models on trial to date, and did so having disabused myself of any prejudice against their use. 
As reported previously, I found their performance inferior to monopolar mainly as a consequence of the 
intermittency of the current, the lack of any small vessel fulguration whilst cutting and the much reduced rate of 
continuous irrigation. 
I last use bipolar two weeks ago to resect the moderately enlarged prostate gland of an elderly patient. 
I had to abandon bipolar resection after 10 minutes because of bleeding, poor irrigation and visualisation. 
The intraoperative comparison of both systems was remarkable. 
Bipolar resection placed this patient in intraoperative danger, and salvaged by monopolar resection. 

I have therefore pledged not to do so again. 
I will not use or try bipolar resection again, 

Aidan. 

1 
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WIT-103616

theatre nursing staff, had adequate time and numbers of cases with each 

resectoscope system to make a meaningful assessment.  There were some supply 

issues from the companies regarding the equipment which contributed to the 

protracted period of assessment. We regarded that our appraisal was robust for 

ease of use, effectiveness, and taking into account the cost of these systems. We 

noted that the interchange of equipment with our existing glycine system was a 

feature we wished to maintain, as we had noted the coagulation mode for the saline 

system was not as efficient as the glycine system in our initial assessment. This 

would therefore allow the surgeon to switch mid-procedure, if necessary. This was a 

specific safety point raised by Mr O’Brien but we felt it was a safety feature that 

should be available for all the surgical team in the unit. See: 

11.-13. 20161012 Urology Department Minutes 22 9 2016, A1-A2 

6.6 We all realised that there was an adaptation to our surgical technique to be 

required but, overall, the majority observed that it wasn’t a major issue. 

(e) When did the Southern Trust direct the cessation of monopolar 
procedures? 

6.7 To the best of my knowledge I am not aware of the Southern Trust ever 

directing cessation of monopolar procedures.  There was a delay in the supply of the 

resectoscopes due to purchasing issues from the Trust.  In December 2017 we had 

a Urology Departmental meeting at which we agreed that we would stop doing TURP 

until the new saline equipment was in place. Please see correspondence from 

myself to Ronan Carroll relating to this (see 14. 20171116 - E MY - saline TURP 

issue). The scopes system was eventually installed in April 2018. There was 

however a proviso that saline was the principle medium to be used but if, for 

example, the surgeon felt there was a tissue coagulation issue at the time of surgery, 

this could be changed to glycine.  This was to accommodate all members of the 

team. 

(f) Did you continue to undertake monopolar resection in glycine beyond 
this point? 

13 



Received from DoH on 08/09/2021. Annotated by the Urology Services Inquiry. 



Received from Tughans OBO Mr Aidan O'Brien on 02/11/2022. Annotated by the Urology Services Inquiry

  

   

 

 

 

     

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

    

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

WIT-82505

304. I met with Dr Richard Wright, then Medical Director, in April 2016 when we 

discussed the issue of the inability of the Department of Radiology to ensure the 

attendance of a uroradiologist at all MDMs. While this did result in some 

improvement for a period of time, it was inadequate. As with the failure of 

attendance of clinical oncologists, the essential constraint was the regional 

shortage of radiologists and oncologists. 

305. This issue is highlighted in the SAI reports which are dealt with at Question 

79. For example, in the SAI Report regarding Patient SUB [S18333 see AOB-

61216 – AOB-61226], it was noted at page 7 that the MDM was quorate 11% in 

2017, 22% in 2018, 0% in 2019, and 5% in 2020. There was evidently a failure on 

the part of the Trust to ensure that the MDMs were quorate, and that undoubtedly 

reduced their effectiveness, and arguably their legitimacy. The poor MDM quoracy 

is but another feature of an inadequate urological service provided by the Trust 

over many years. It should also be noted that the Trust’s Urology Cancer MDT’s 

Operational Policy, agreed in September 2017 [AOB-03859] expressly states that 

the MDT should be quorate for at least 95% of MDMs. That policy was evidently 

not complied with by the Trust. 

306. The quality of chairmanship of MDMs is critical to the outcomes of MDM 

discussions and to the recommendations agreed. It is essential that the Chair, or 

indeed whoever presents the case, has adequately previewed the cases so that 

the members will be optimally informed. The inclusiveness of discussion is 

dependent upon the Chair. The Chair should not have a predetermined view as 

to the next step or be resistant to a change in his or her view. Of greater concern 

over recent years has been the increasing tendency of the MDT members at MDM 

finding themselves agreeing to management recommendations which had not 

only already been recommended to the patient by the consultant urologist and 

core member but had already been implemented. In most cases, the MDM would 

have agreed in retrospect with the recommendations already shared with the 

patient, if not already implemented. As I recall, this applied particularly to patients 

being recommended with regard to the management of upper urinary tract 

pathology, and even of patients having undergone renal surgery without previous 
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WIT-82506

discussion at MDM, as occurred in the case of Patient 10  [PAT 000001 

– 000055]. 

307. It has been reported that it is of critical importance that the agreed 

recommendation should be audibly dictated by the Chair to and recorded by the 

Cancer Tracker. It has been my experience that the language used in expressing 

the agreed recommendation is of critical importance, particularly when there are 

management options to be considered with the patient at review, as is often the 

case. Sometimes, the recommendations more importantly specified management 

options which were not to be recommended, rather than those which could be 

recommended. While not all of these features were characteristic of all rotating 

Chairs at all times, overall, I would have considered the MDMs to have been 

effective within the constraints placed upon them 

308. Please see the Trust’s Urology Cancer MDT’s Operational Policy, agreed 

in September 2017 [AOB-03859] 

(Q 41) 

309. Decisions were generally unanimous because most cases discussed 

were straightforward in terms of the recommended next steps. There was 

certainly an opportunity within MDMs for differing views regarding patient next 

steps to be discussed and debated. My view was that the focus at the MDMs 

was always on recommending the right approach for each patient, and as stated 

above I never felt that anyone felt inhibited from expressing their views at the 

MDMs. 

310. The decisions made at MDM with regard to any patient were the agreed 

recommendations which would be considered and discussed with the patient at 

review. The agreed recommendations have been variously referred to as MDM 

outcomes and MDM plans. Irrespective of those labels, the agreed next steps 

are recommendations to be considered, shared and discussed with patients, 

and, with the patients’ consent, with those accompanying them, when reviewed 
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TRA-11755

THE HEARING ADJOURNED FOR LUNCH AND RESUMED AS FOLLOWS 

CHAIR: Thank you everyone, Mr. Wolfe. 

MR. WOLFE: We were examining, just before the break 

Dr. O'Kane, the content of Recommendation 5, I think it 13:58 

was, of the outworking from the SAI recommendations, 

which provided for and appears to have embedded some 

form of auditing across a number of the concerns that 

Dr. Hughes had. You mentioned, and just before we go 

to the evidence for the auditing, you mentioned in part 13:59 

of your answer that this system of auditing might have 

the potential to pick up on failure to refer into the 

MDT process, and if I picked up your answer correctly, 

you seem to suggest that with regards to Mr. O'Brien 

there was information, or it was your belief perhaps, 13:59 

that he had a history of failing to refer patients into 

the Urology MDT. Is that your understanding? 

A. Yes. Certainly from the Lookback Review in relation to 

the 10 questions that we have undertaken in reviewing 

all of that, there's a suggestion that patients came 14:00 

through the system, had a diagnosis of cancer, and 

weren't always referred to the MDT. And for others, 

were referred to the MDT but may not have had their 

results enacted. 

126 Q. Yes. Certainly - we can look at that, we can look 14:00 

again at the lookback as regards the first part of your 

answer. Certainly there is indication through the 

Dr. Hughes's SAIs, if I can call them that, that 

patients having come through the MDT didn't get their 

83 
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TRA-01060

Why was that relevant from a benchmarking perspective? 

A. DR. HUGHES: It's really to show the principles of how 

a functional MDT should work and how they should 

deliver care for patients. 

97 Q. Yes. In terms of the dual work that you were carrying 12:17 

out, that's more relevant for the governance side, for 

your side of the house, Dr. Hughes? 

A. DR. HUGHES: Yes. 

98 Q. Is there anything in particular in that document that 

you wish to refer us to? I know that, within your 12:17 

reports, you talk about difficulties within the MDT, 

cases not being referred back, failure to escalate, 

deficits in care, these kinds of things? 

A. DR. HUGHES: I think the overarching findings were that 

absence of Clinical Nurse Specialists meant that there 12:17 

was no overarching view of MDT recommendations being 

implemented. 

99 Q. Yes. 

A. DR. HUGHES: There is a requirement, if you don't 

implement an MDT recommendation, that you would bring 12:18 

it back to your colleagues and discuss it, and agree 

how that would be achieved. I think the other issues 

are that, because the team focused on first diagnosis 

and first treatment, patients weren't being brought 

back to the MDT for discussion as their care needs 12:18 

changed, and because a cohort of patients were not also 

being cared for by a nurse specialist, it meant that 

they had a major deficit in their care. 

100 Q. There's a series of documents cited by you as having 

56 
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TRA-09467

documented. So while protecting the patient, it also 

protects the surgeon? 

A. Yes, absolutely right. That's more and more important 

in an increasingly litigious society. 

154 Q. One other thing just in relation to -- we were talking 15:37 

about actioning scans. Would you accept that if the 

waiting lists are long and a review appointment cannot 

be held as soon as the clinician would like them to be, 

it is more incumbent upon the clinician to check scans 

as soon as they come back, or results as soon as they 15:37 

come back? 

A. Yes, I mean, ideally what we need is a joined-up 

electronic system. The technology is there now to do 

remote consultations, order scans online, look at the 

results online and, you know, action urgent cases, you 15:37 

know, literally within a few days. It could be done 

but the problem is that we're dealing with such an 

overloaded system. It is quite hard to change things 

within the system because doctors are brought up to do 

things in a certain way. We were all brought up in the 15:37 

sort of paper era where we had to have the notes and 

the patient in front of us, but now suddenly all these 

things can be done online. You can see that there are 

all sorts of issues. Dealing with the very senior 

surgeons in the department can be the trickiest issue, 15:38 

really. It is hard to get them to change. 

155 Q. Clearly in the 2,000 or so pages that you've read and 

your conversation with a colleague, you formed an 

opinion of Mr. O'Brien. I just wonder if you would 

123 



          

        

         

          

        

       

         

            

         

          

          

         

         

         

           

         

         

            

          

      

          

          

          

            

          

         

        

         

         

       

       

           

        

           

          

         

         

         

 

           

         

         

           

           

     

           

         

          

           

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

TRA-09468

share some of these views; that he was someone who 

worked in isolation rather than as a team player? 

A. Yes, I think he obviously did. To his detriment, 

I think, to the patient's detriment. He didn't seem to 

want to collaborate with his colleagues as well as 15:38 

he should have done, especially the radiotherapists in 

Belfast. That would have been -- a close relationship 

would have been ideal. And he had his own way of doing 

things and perhaps was reluctant to change. I think 

a lot of energy has been wasted in battles about who 15:38 

should do the triage and who should be the urologist on 

call and the urologist of the week, and how should 

we run the MDTs, instead of dealing with the issues. 

They were allowed to sort of spiral out of control. 

15:39 

That does raise the issue, if you have a problem within 

a department within a hospital, it shouldn't be left 

just to deteriorate further and further and further and 

end up with an inquiry. A lot of these problems could 

have been addressed and dealt with at a much lower 15:39 

level than what's happened now. 

156 Q. You may well be right and we'll certainly be reflecting 

on that when we come to write our report. 

Thank you very much, Prof. Kirby. You're not getting 15:39 

away just yet. Mr. Wolfe wants to speak to you again. 

124 
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WIT-82585

were waiting on a first outpatient appointment. I would have requested 50 – 100 

investigations during the course of triaging during and after being UOW. 

Moreover, I believe that the expectation to follow up on the reports of these 

investigations proved to be a disincentive for others to similarly request 

investigations on triaging. 

543. Urological practice generates investigations in the majority of patients 

who attend outpatient clinics. To have expected consultants to follow up on the 

reports of all of these investigations without provision of any or sufficient time to 

do so was unfair. I believe that to additionally jeopardise the patients’ review was 

irresponsible. To transfer all responsibility to the clinician in the process was 

consistent with the approach of the Trust to its failure to provide a sufficiently safe 

service. 

(xiii) 

544. At no point during my years of clinical practice as a consultant urologist 

within the Trust, from 1992 until 2020, was any concern raised with me in respect 

of the manner in which I prescribed Bicalutamide. Indeed, it was well known within 

both the urology service and the oncology service that Bicalutamide was being 

prescribed, and how it was being prescribed. No issues were ever raised with me 

in that regard. The first time concerns were made known to me in respect of my 

prescribing Bicalutamide was when the Directorate of Legal Services wrote to my 

solicitors by letter dated 25 October 2020 [AOB-02772]. 

545. I note that the SAI report in respect of SUF states that the use of 

Bicalutamide was known to the MDM, was challenged, was not minuted, and was 

not escalated. I entirely refute that. The reason it was never minuted at an MDM 

as having been challenged, or escalated, is that it was never challenged or 

escalated. Indeed, in MDMs such as that regarding SUF, the fact that the patient 

had been prescribed Bicalutamide 50mg was specifically noted on the patient’s 

MDM clinical history and when this was reviewed by Mr Haynes in August 2019 
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WIT-98807

UROLOGY SERVICES INQUIRY 

Note: S21 Notice No. 68 of 2022 can be 
found at WIT-82399 to WIT-82657. 
Addendum No. 2 can be found at 

USI Ref: Notice 68 of 2022 WIT-107564 to WIT-107623. 
Annotated by the Urology Services Inquiry.Date of Notice: 23 August 2022 

Addendum Witness Statement of:    MR AIDAN O’BRIEN 

I, Aidan O’Brien, wish to make the following amendments to my existing response, 

dated 2nd November 2022, to Section 21 Notice number 68 of 2022. 

1. At Paragraph 135 I stated “I did express concerns in relation to DARO in an 

email exchange in January/February 2009 primarily between Colette McCaul and 

me. [see AOB-07566-AOB-07567]”. This should be amended to state: “I did 

express concerns in relation to DARO in an email exchange in January/February 

20019 primarily between Colette McCaul and me. [see AOB-07566-AOB-

07567]”. 

2. At Paragraph 544 I stated that “At no point during my years of clinical practice as 

a consultant urologist within the Trust, from 1992 until 2020, was any concern 

raised with me in respect of the manner in which I prescribed Bicalutamide.” At 

Paragraph 563 I stated that “No concerns were ever raised during my tenure in 

respect of the use of Bicalutamide.” At Paragraph 587, I stated that “It could not 

be said that any issue in respect of my prescribing Bicalutamide recurred during 

my tenure, as no issue was ever raised with me in respect of my prescribing that 

medication during my tenure as a consultant urologist with the Trust.” 

Since submitting my Section 21 response dated 2 November 2022, I have come 

across an email sent to me by Dr Darren Mitchell, Consultant in Clinical 

Oncology at the Cancer Centre in Belfast (AOB-71990), on 20 November 2014, 

asking me to look into the case of a man who had been prescribed and remained 
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WIT-107576

41. In the case of Patient 6, I prescribed Bicalutamide 50 mg at his review in July 2019 due to his 

anxiety and concern that his presumed prostate cancer would progress while awaiting prostatic 

biopsies later that month. Though prescribed prior to histopathological confirmation of prostate 

cancer, the off-licence indication was similar to that recommended by BAUS in March 2020 to 

relieve the similar anxieties and concerns of men whose definitive treatment was deferred due 

to Covid 19. Its efficacy was reflected in his serum PSA level having decreased from 

13.44ng/ml in July 2019 to 8.4ng/ml by September 2019. 

42. Concern regarding compromise or loss of erectile function has been a significant issue for 

many patients embarking upon androgen deprivation therapy. For example, it was the reason 

for initially prescribing tadalafil for a period of three weeks prior to prescribing Bicalutamide 50 

mg daily for Patient 35 in February 2013 in the hope of maintaining his erectile function which 

he was so keen to preserve. 

43. Most importantly, when the patient has been optimally informed of the anticipated benefits of 

differing management options and of the comparative risks associated with those options, it 

has been my experience that a great proportion of men, probably the majority, were most keen 

to embark upon a journey to achieve the benefits while incurring the least risks. It has been in 

that context that androgen deprivation using Bicalutamide has been prescribed, irrespective of 

the dose initially used. 

44. I have never initiated ADT of any form for any patient with non-metastatic prostate cancer with 

the intent that it would be their sole, indefinite management. Bicalutamide was always initiated 

with the intent that it would be a prelude to radical radiotherapy to which the patient had agreed 

in principle. However, on numerous occasions, when patients were informed of the biochemical 

response to ADT, I have been asked whether they were obliged or compelled to proceed with 

radiotherapy at that time. I advised them that they were of course under no such obligation. It 

was for that reason that ADT, using Bicalutamide, initiated with neo-adjuvant intent, 

incrementally became long-term monotherapy. Such was the case of Patient 139 who had a 

13 
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WIT-96667

I had been referred a few prostate cancer patients by Mr O’Brien who had been 
commenced on an unlicensed dose of Bicalutamide hormone therapy prior to referral 
to oncology. 

1(ii) b prescribing outside guidelines 

The licenced doses for Bicalutamide are either 150mg once daily as a monotherapy, 
or 50mg once daily when used in combination with hormone therapy injections 
known as luteinizing hormone releasing hormone agonists. There are no licenced 
indications that I am aware of for Bicalutamide 50mg once daily as a monotherapy. 
As such I viewed the used of the Bicalutamide 50mg once daily as a monotherapy as 
being outside the licenced indications. 

Mr O’Brien in his position as chair of the NICAN Urology group in 2015 had asked for 
guidelines to be written for each urology disease sub-site. I wrote the androgen 
deprivation therapy guidelines in 2015 to accurately define our regional use of 
hormone therapy at that stage in line with the licenced indications. I hoped that this 
would standardise practise with the appropriate of dose Bicalutamide being used 
within our regional guidance document. Following discussion at the NICAN urology 
group meeting on a number of occasions in 2015 a final version was sent to Mr 
O’Brien on 10/10/2016 (AOB3) 

1(ii) c Bicalutamide 

As outlined above 

(iii) How, in your view, did these issues differ from normal medical practice? 

1(iii) Normal practise would have been to prescribe a dose of Bicalutamide that was within 
the licenced indications or to refer to oncology for discussion and allow the oncology 
team to discuss treatment options including the use of hormone therapies such as 
Bicalutamide. 

(iv) If they differed, what, if any, action was taken by you or others? If none, why 
not? 

1(iv) Firstly - I emailed Mr O’Brien in November 2014 (AOB1) highlighting a case that had 
been passed to me as the new chair of the regional urology MDM. The patient had 
been commenced on Bicalutamide 50mg once daily as a monotherapy. In that email 
I outlined the standard of care that we as oncologists would have offered in terms of 
hormone therapy. I advised that I was writing the regional guidelines to standardise 
the approach to hormone therapy prescription across the region, and pasted a link to 
guidance on off label prescription, good practise recommendations and our 
responsibilities within that. I offered further discussion on this. 

Secondly I wrote the regional guidelines on androgen deprivation therapy and passed 
these through to Mr O’Brien as the NICAN urology chair and the NICAN urology 
group for sign off. These guidelines reflected the licenced indications and doses of 
hormone therapy. 
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TRU-320464

From: Avril Frizell 
To: Donnelly, Anne; Murphy, Eoin; Benson, Shauna 
Cc: Emmet Fox; Keeva Wilson 
Subject: Issue for AOB regarding Patient 139 
Date: 21 March 2024 16:46:56 
Attachments: emails Avril to Anne of 5.2.24 and response of Anne 13.2.24.docx 

20200825 Email from M Corrigan to M O"Kane re AOB-NE contact.pdf 
s-sheet - Results to Trust 20240201.xlsx 
s-sheet - patient access (1).xlsx 
20200731 - E Mr O"Brien return items to Trust (003).pdf 
TRU 252938- TRU 252940.pdf 

Importance: High 

“This email is covered by the disclaimer found at the end of the message.” 

Dear Anne 

Further to our email exchange on 5 February and 13 February, I have taken further instructions 
on this issue from the Southern Trust, and I understand that Mr Lunny KC has raised this matter 
directly with Mr Wolfe KC. By way of summary, I can confirm: 

1. On 18.9.23 Mr Wolfe KC raised with Donal Lunny KC an issue re Mr Glackin's involvement 
with Patient 139 from 2016. The issue had been raised with Mr Wolke KC by AOB’s 
lawyers. Mr Wolfe KC cited a document at WIT-04624 when raising the issue with Mr 
Lunny KC. Mr Lunny KC reverted to ask what the basis was for believing Mr Glackin had 
any involvement as WIT-04624 did not disclose any such involvement. Mr Wolfe KC 
replied quoting precisely what AOB's lawyers had said in the points they wanted Mr Wolfe 
KC to raise with Mr Glackin: 

'…It would appear that Patient 139 (WIT04624) remained on 
Bicalutamide 50mg daily and Tamoxifen 10 mg daily since recommended by Mr 
O’Brien in 2010 for organ confined, intermediate risk prostate 5 cancer with 
apparently good effect. The patient remained under your care after you 
reviewed him in 2016. 

Did you find that he remained well since 2016?' 

2. When Mr Lunny KC pressed the point with Mr Wolfe KC (and Mr Wolfe KC in turn pressed 
it with Mr Millar BL on behalf of AOB), Mr Millar BL provided 3 letters to Mr Wolfe KC. 
Those 3 letters can be described as follows: 

a. They are 3 letters relating to Patient 139 from Mr Glackin to Dr Gudyma (the GP); 
b. The first was dictated on 22.2.16. The second and third are dated 4.3.16 and 5.5.20 

respectively. 

3. The Trust quickly satisfied itself that none of the 3 letters was contained in any discovery 
provided by it or by AOB to the Inquiry. 

4. The letters have since been given the Bates numbers AOB-82836, AOB-82837, and AOB-
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PAT-001353

1st July 2020 – injection at GP. Nurse unable to administer 

6TH July 2020 – Collection of new injection 

7th July 2020 – Injection and PSA check 

9th July 2020 – Scan Craigavon 

14th July 2020 –Met with Mr Mark Haynes Urologist for the results of the CT scan. 

was obviously anxiety around the results. Mr Haynes informed ,
that the cancer had spread. He said that there were signs of the disease 

Patient 1 Patient's Family

This appointment only happened on foot of pressure by family members as there 

progression for some time – the first being the requirement for a catheter in 
Patient 1

March/April. He informed them that the spread was significant. was shocked, 
we simply could not take the news

Patient 1

 in. A cancer nurse specialist was present who 
indicated her surprise that had never been allocated to a cancer nurse 
specialist from the outset. We explained that no, from February –June his only 
access to care was

Patient 1

 through A&E despite repeated attempts to access Urology 
Services. explained that Mr O’Brien had felt his prognosis was a good one so 
he really could not believe what he was being told. Mr Haynes explained that he 
was going to lodge a complaint by in relation to this matter. 

Patient 1

Patient 1

We weren’t particularly 
interested in that as the reality was, was going to die and we had to deal with 
whether now lay ahead for us. asked what his prognosis was and it was 
explained that it was difficult to say however he was optimistically looking at 
around 18 months. His only treatment option was likely to be chemotherapy. 
simply could not understand why he was never given radiotherapy and how on 
earth he had ended up in this position. Mr Hayes explained that treatment options 
could be discussed in more detail tomorrow with Dr Darren Brady, Consultant 
Urological Oncologist at the Cancer Centre in Altnagelvin. 

Patient 1

was extremely weak and had to be carried from the car by his brother in law. 
Patient's Wife

Patient 1
15th July 2020 – We attended at the Cancer centre. A 6am start from Enniskillen. 

With difficulty, due to Covid protocols, the Cancer Centre agreed that 
Patient 1

could 
attend this appointment with  He was recommended for Abiraterone , an oral 
drug used to treat advanced prostate cancer.

Patient's Family

 An 18 month prognosis was given. 
He spoke to  and told them he felt that he “had been thrown under 
a bus” by the health care system. He and we simply could not believe that he was 
now in this position. 

22nd July 2020 - Admitted to SWAH for treatment for urinary infection.
Patient's 
Daughter

Patient's 
Daughter

Patient 1

Patient 1

 GP would 

Patient 1

not visit home due to Coved so took a urine sample from the catheter bag 
and brought it to the GP practice for testing advised by GP – Dr Davies 
advised that unless was admitted to hospital there was a good chance he 

Patient's 
Daughter

would die at home. Visiting was not permitted whilst was in hospital and 
was in a lot of distress throughout this period, telephoning frequently. 

Page 13 of 12 
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WIT-82405

and on 11 February 2020 in the case of Mr 
Patient 104

. Not only is it indisputably so, 

but there is also much documentation arising from and in further support of both 

patients being on my waiting list from the appropriate time. Moreover, Mr Haynes 

was aware of both patients being on the waiting list for admission at various times 

prior to my email of 7 June 2020. 

18. I therefore fail to understand how it could have appeared to Mr. Haynes that these 

two patients had not been added to the inpatient waiting list when it was plainly 

evident that both had been. I further find it concerning that it appears that Mr 

Haynes’ misplaced, claimed concern in respect of these patients was the basis in 

his 11 July 2020 letter for “a review of records back to January 2019”. 

19. It appears that the very trigger for a look back exercise of all of my patients to 

January 2019 was the totally untrue assertions in this letter about two patients 

who had been placed on the inpatient waiting list on the Patient Administration 

System in the ordinary way and which any competent and impartial consideration 

of the medical records and correspondence held by the Trust would have 

revealed. 

20. It is of further concern that this untrue assertion should have led the Minister of 

Health to misinform the Northern Ireland Assembly in his Ministerial Statement on 

24 November 2020. 

21.Throughout my tenure the greatest threat to patient safety in providing safe care 

to urological patients was due to the inadequacy of the service provided by the 

Trust. 

22. I first became aware of the comparative inadequacy of urological consultant 

staffing in Northern Ireland when co-opted onto the Council of the Irish Society of 

Urology for the years 1990-9. I learned that the Republic of Ireland, with a 

consultant / population ratio of 1:240,000, having 15 consultant urologists, had an 

inadequate staffing complement compared to the UK which had a consultant / 
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WIT-82655

710. Therefore, in short whilst concerns have been raised they have never been 

fully or fairly investigated at a Trust level. Clinical concerns are being investigated 

by the GMC and I continue to liaise with them in relation to same. 

(Q 84) 

711. There was an abject failure by the Trust, throughout my tenure, to engage 

in a constructive manner and provide adequate support, management and 

resources to deal with the inadequate service clinicians could provide to patients. 

The statistics speak for themselves. The failure to engage left me stretched 

throughout my tenure, having to prioritise, as best I could, to deliver a service to 

patients. However, that inevitably led to issues occurring in my practice, as 

referred to in my response to Question 66. I have set out in detail, in my opening 

narrative to Question 1-2 and in my comments on Support (Question 73 and 74), 

the inadequacies of the Trust. 

712. I cannot say the extent to which the Trust alone was at fault. On the basis 

of the respective waiting lists there was a disparity between the manner in which 

resources were allocated between urology patients and to other services – why 

was that allowed to be the case when it was clear to all we were failing to meet 

so many targets? I am quite sure this raises issues also at a regional level – what 

was the role of the Commissioners and Department of Health in failing to address 

this? I am quite sure in any other part of the UK a Urology Service, and its 

patients, would not have been left in the extremely vulnerable situation we were 

left in. 

(Q 85) 

713. I was very disappointed in the Trust’s approach to the formal investigation. 

It is clear that both NCAS and colleagues considered there could have been an 

action plan put in place as opposed to recourse to disciplinary action. The Trust 

was well aware that I had been working excessively for years and had fallen 
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